THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2017-CP-42-02834
(Appeal Tracking No.: 2018-000568)

RECEIVED
SEP 10 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Phillip Francis Luke Hughes, on behalf of the Estate of Jane K. HughesAppellant,

v.

Bank of America National AssociationRespondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MIKE KELLY LAW GROUP, LLC
Brad D. Hewett
bhewett@mklawgroup.com
D. Michael Kelly
mkelly@mklawgroup.com
Jamie N. Smith
jsmith@mklawgroup.com
500 Taylor Street
Post Office Box 8113
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 726-0123
(803) 252-7145
Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD ABOLISH THE COMMON LAW RULE EXCEPTING FRAUD-BASED ACTIONS FROM SOUTH CAROLINA'S SURVIVAL STATUTE.
- II. WHETHER THE DOCTRINE OF RES JUDICATA BARS A STATE COURT ACTION CHALLENGING EXISTING PRECEDENT WHEN CLAIMS RELATED TO THAT ACTION WERE ADJUDICATED IN A FEDERAL COURT WHICH LACKED THE JURISDICTION TO CERTIFY ISSUES OF STATE PRECEDENT OR CHANGE CONTROLLING STATE LAW.
- III. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT APPELLANT'S CLAIMS ARE TIME-BARRED.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arose from fraudulent charges made by of Bank of America National Association ("BANA") against the account of John and Jane Hughes. Appellant Phillip Francis Luke Hughes filed the current survival action on behalf of the Estate of Jane K. Hughes on August 15, 2017, alleging fraud and other fraud-based causes of action. On December 21, 2017, BANA filed a Motion to Dismiss pursuant to SCRCP Rule 12(b)(6).

Prior to initiating the present action, Appellant filed an action in the Spartanburg County Court of Common Pleas in 2015 based upon the same transactions and occurrences that establish his claim for relief in the current action. Appellant's 2015 Complaint was filed as a putative class action law suit against BANA for violation of the Truth in Lending Act, fraud, fraudulent concealment, breach of contract, and breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent acts. BANA removed the 2015 action to federal court, and filed a motion to dismiss in lieu of an answer. Before the District Court decided BANA's motion, Hughes stipulated to the dismissal, without prejudice,

of all claims against BANA *except* breach of contract and violation of TILA. The District Court ultimately dismissed the breach of contract and TILA claims as untimely, and the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals upheld that decision.

Appellant dismissed the fraud-based claims pending in the 2015 federal action and re-filed those claims in his 2017 Complaint because the District Court lacked jurisdiction to decide a key issue related to those claims: whether existing precedent excluding fraud from the South Carolina survival statute should be overturned. The question is one left to the State to decide but, because case law provides controlling precedent on the issue, the question could not be certified back to the South Carolina Supreme Court under Rule 244(a), SCACR. (R. p. 44, lines 1-25).

Respondent moved to dismiss Appellant's 2017 Complaint under the doctrines of *res judicata* and collateral estoppel, and the common law exception of fraud from S.C. Code Ann. § 15-5-90 (1976), South Carolina's survival statute. The Honorable R. Keith Kelly heard arguments by Appellant and Respondent on February 22, 2018 and subsequently granted Respondent's motion, finding the actions barred by *res judicata*, the statute of limitations, and S.C. Code Ann. § 15-5-90. (R. pp. 1-11). Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal on March 27, 2018 pursuant to Rule 201, SCACR, challenging the lower court's dismissal of the fraud-based claims alleged in Appellant's 2017 Complaint. (R. pp. 281-282). On March 29, 2018, Respondent filed a Motion for Sanctions against counsel for Appellant, seeking more than \$70,000.00 in attorneys' fees for the filing of the 2017 Complaint, which resulted in a dismissal prior to any discovery and after a single hearing.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 13, 2006, Mr. and Mrs. Hughes opened a line of credit from BANA in the amount of \$120,000.00, secured by a mortgage (“Mortgage”) on their Spartanburg County homestead. The line of credit is governed by a document entitled “Bank of America Maximizer Agreement and Disclosure Statement” (“Agreement”) signed by both borrowers on June 13, 2006. (R. p. 18, ¶ 7). At the same time, Mr. and Mrs. Hughes signed an acknowledgement and authorization (“Authorization”) which allowed BANA to automatically draft loan payments from the Hughes’s BANA bank account. (R. p. 18, ¶ 8).

During the meeting to complete the Mortgage transaction, BANA presented Mr. and Mrs. Hughes with a document entitled “Optional Line Protection Plan Addendum (“Addendum”).” As stated on the form, the “Line Protection Plan only provides protection on the variable portion of your credit line” and “This Product is Optional.” If elected, the Line Protection Plan allowed the cancellation of all or some monthly loan payments in the event of disability, accidental death, or involuntary unemployment. The Agreement explicitly stated that the borrowers “must specifically request” the Line Protection Plan. (R. p. 19, ¶ 10). Mr. and Mrs. Hughes both signed a two-page document captioned “OPTIONAL LINE PROTECTION PLAN ADDENDUM (“ADDENDUM”)” which stated that BANA provided them with information on the Line Protection Plan. Jane and John Hughes designated their election to decline the purportedly optional Line Protection Plan by clearly and conspicuously checking a box next to the “DECLINE to purchase any Protection on this Credit Line” option. (R. p. 19, ¶ 11).

In June 2006, John Hughes was age 86. (R. p. 19, ¶ 12). He died on October 22, 2008, and left his estate to his wife, Jane K. Hughes. (R. p. 20, ¶ 13). Mrs. Hughes was age 85 in June 2006 and underwent major heart surgery, suffered from dementia, and experienced vision

impairments, including cataracts and eye surgery, from June 2006 until her death. Mrs. Hughes also suffered a broken hip after June 2006 that required hospitalization and extensive rehabilitation at White Oak Manor Nursing Home in Spartanburg, South Carolina. Mrs. Hughes was diagnosed with impaired cognition and mobility, atypical psychosis, confusion, blindness, renal insufficiency, heart failure, and was noted to lack decisional capacity in the years subsequent to June 2006. (R. pp. 19-20, ¶ 12).

Over six years after Mr. Hughes's death, on or around March 17, 2015, BANA sent a boilerplate form cancellation notice addressed to Mr. and Mrs. Hughes, informing them that "The Line Protection Plan would be cancelled on September 30, 2015," and that "You're no longer being charged for the Protection Plan as of April 1, 2015." The notice also indicated that John P. Hughes was a "protected" borrower. (R. p. 20, ¶ 15). Although Mr. and Mrs. Hughes never elected to purchase any "Protection Plan," BANA sent a second letter dated March 25, 2015, stating that John Hughes had selected "6 month, Involuntary Unemployment, Disability, Accidental Death and Hospitalization" protection at a monthly rate of 9.5% of the Hughes' Minimum Monthly Payment. (R. p. 20, ¶ 17).

In response to inquiry from a family member of Mrs. Hughes, BANA stated in a May 6, 2015 letter that "The Line Protection Plan (Plan) addendum for your Bank of America loan ending in 4699 is enclosed, per your request, and enclosed an eight-page document entitled "OPTIONAL LINE PROTECTION PLAN ADDENDUM ("ADDENDUM")." (R. pp. 20, ¶ 17). The eight-page "ADDENDUM" provided by BANA in May 2015 is not the two page "ADDENDUM" signed by Mr. and Mrs. Hughes in 2006, and does not contain or provide for signatures or a place for election or rejection of the "protection." (R. pp. 20-21, ¶ 18). In any event, BANA did not provide the eight-page addendum to Mr. or Mrs. Hughes before May 2015, nor did the Line

Protection Plan premium appear on the mortgage finance charge disclosed to Mr. and Mrs. Hughes in 2006. (R. p. 21, ¶¶ 19, 20).

Before March 2015, BANA did not provide any statement, notice, or communication of any sort to Mrs. Hughes revealing that BANA believed that the Hughes's had elected any "Protection Plan" or that an amount was being charged to them for such a plan. (R. p. 21, ¶ 21). To date, BANA has been unable to provide any documentation that Mr. or Mrs. Hughes ever elected or agreed to pay for any "Protective Plan" coverage of any sort. (R. p. 21, ¶ 22).

However, despite having declined to purchase the Line Protection Plan, BANA withdrew a monthly charge of \$28.40 from the Hughes's BANA joint checking account for several years. This charge was ambiguously listed as "Ad Insurance Des:XXXXXXXX4374 ID: 6 R# XXXXXXXX1070 Indn:Hughes Sr, John P Co ID:XXXXXXXX4660 Ppd" and appeared amid numerous other monthly charges. (R. p. 21, ¶ 23). Notably, all other charges from BANA or its subsidiaries appearing on the Hughes's bank statements during the relevant period were clearly designated as transactions with "Bank of America" or "BkofAmerica" and other insurance transactions were clearly identified with the name of the charging company (i.e., "Patrons Mutual," "Travelers Insur"). (R. p. 21, ¶ 24). None of the numbers in the Line Protection Plan transaction description were related to the Hughes's BANA mortgage or line of credit. (R. p. 21, ¶ 25).

As neither Mr. nor Mrs. Hughes had elected Line Protection Plan coverage or had received any notice that BANA had issued such a plan to them, they were not expecting to be charged for any such service and they did not have any reason to expect that "Ad Insurance Des:XXXXXXXX4374 ID: R# XXXXXXXX1070 Indn:Hughes Sr, John P Co ID:XXXXXXXX4660 Ppd" was a BANA charge generally or a "Line Protection Plan" charge specifically until receiving the March 2015 BANA notices. (R. p. 22, ¶ 26). Upon receiving notice of Mr. Hughes's death,

on May 6, 2015, BANA declined coverage under the Line Protection Plan on the grounds that “[t]he death was the result of disease or treatment of disease or any medical treatment (and/or was not for the treatment of an accidental injury).” (R. p. 22, ¶ 27). BANA refused to refund the payments drawn during Mr. Hughes’s lifetime and has been unable to produce any documentation supporting that Mr. Hughes elected to enroll in the Line Protection Plan. (R. p. 22, ¶ 28).

On June 3, 2015, Jane K. Hughes passed away, and Appellant was subsequently named as personal representative of her estate. (R. p. 22, ¶ 29). Appellant filed a prior action in this Court in 2015 based upon the facts and transaction set forth above. The 2015 Complaint was filed as a putative class action law suit against BANA for violation of the Truth in Lending Act, fraud, fraudulent concealment, breach of contract, and breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent acts. BANA removed the action to federal court under federal question and diversity jurisdiction, and filed a motion to dismiss in lieu of an answer. Prior to the District Court’s decision on the motion, Appellant stipulated to the dismissal, without prejudice, of all claims against BANA *except* breach of contract and violation of TILA. Appellant refiled his fraud-based claims in state court due to the District Court’s lack of jurisdiction to hear a key issue essential to those claims, and to allow this Court to revisit the survivability of fraud claims in South Carolina.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This is an appeal, made pursuant to Rule 201, SCACR, from an Order of Dismissal issued by the lower court based on the trial judge’s grant of Respondent BANA’s Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss.

“On appeal from the dismissal of a case pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), an appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court.” Brouwer v. Sisters of Charity Providence Hosps., 409 S.C. 514, 519, 763 S.E.2d 200, 202 (2014) (citing Rydde v. Morris, 381 S.C. 643,

646, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009)). “That standard requires the Court to construe the complaint in a light most favorable to the nonmovant and determine if the facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible from the pleadings would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory of the case.” *Id.* Furthermore, the court should not dismiss a complaint merely because the court doubts that the plaintiff will prevail in the action. Spence v. Spence, 368 S.C. 106, 116-117, 628 S.E.2d 869, 874 (2006).

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT SHOULD ABOLISH THE COMMON LAW RULE EXCEPTING FRAUD-BASED ACTIONS FROM SOUTH CAROLINA’S SURVIVAL STATUTE.

The South Carolina survival statute allows for the survival of *any and all* injuries to the person or personal property. The trial court dismissed Appellant’s fraud-based claims, in part, based upon a court-created exception to the South Carolina survival statute which excludes fraud as a surviving cause of action. Appellant challenges this antiquated and arbitrary exception to the survival statute and, for the reasons set forth below, asks this court to reconsider precedent to better reflect the rights of persons in a modern society.

A. Scope of the South Carolina Survival Statute

i. *Mattison v. Palmetto State Life Ins. Co.*

South Carolina’s survival statute provides that “[c]auses of action for and in respect to any and all injuries and trespasses to and upon real estate and *any and all* injuries to the person or to personal property” shall survive the death of a party, whether the claim is on behalf of or against the deceased, “. . . any law or rule to the contrary notwithstanding.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-5-90 (1976) (emphasis supplied). The statute, enacted in 1905, allows for the survival of certain claims that were historically barred by a claimant’s death. Bennett v. Spartanburg Ry., Gas & Elec. Co., 97 S.C. 27, 81 S.E. 189, 189 (1914). South Carolina’s survival statute has remained intact, and

the language essentially unchanged, from 1905 to present. The courts have relied and still rely upon early judicial interpretations of the statutory language and legislative intent in answering contemporary questions regarding the survivability of actions under the act.

South Carolina first addressed the question of whether fraud survives the death of a party under the survivability statute in Mattison v. Palmetto State Life Ins. Co., 197 S.C. 256, 15 S.E.2d 117 (1941). In Mattison, the estate brought an action against Palmetto State Life Insurance Company for perpetrating a fraudulent scheme intended to cheat the deceased of his rights under an insurance contract. Id. The South Carolina Supreme Court granted certiorari to hear the case on several questions, the relevant question being whether the cause of action of fraud survived. Id.

In determining whether the fraud claim survived, the Mattison Court reviewed the survival statute to assess whether fraud fell within the scope of the statutory language. At that time, the applicable statute read:¹

Causes of action for and in respect to any and all injuries and trespasses to and upon real estate and any and all injuries to the person or to *personal property*, shall survive both to and against the personal or real representative (as the case may be) of the deceased persons, and the legal representatives of insolvent persons, and defunct or insolvent corporations, any law or rule to the contrary notwithstanding.

1932 Code § 419 (emphasis added).

The Mattison Court succinctly opined that fraud did not fall within the scope of the statutory language, and therefore the Legislature did not intend that claims of fraud survive death.

The Mattison Court further provided that:

It is readily seen that under the above quoted Section, there are but two instances wherein a cause of action survives: (1) For and in respect to any and all injuries and trespasses to and upon real estate, and (2) any and all injuries to the person or to *personal property*.

¹ The current survival statute is codified at S.C. Code Ann § 15-5-90, and the language is nearly identical to the 1932 Code with only some minor changes in punctuation.

And it is just as readily seen that respondent's second cause of action does not come within either of the instances where a cause of action survives.

Mattison at 256, 15 S.E.2d at 119 (original emphasis replaced).

While the Mattison court asserted that the survival statute must be liberally interpreted, the court failed to do exactly that. Instead, the court narrowly interpreted the statute and, in doing so, failed to explain why fraud does not constitute injury to personal property. In fact, there is no discussion in Mattison regarding the elements of fraud or why pecuniary loss caused by fraud is not an injury to personal property. This omission is relevant because the money taken by BANA from Jane Hughes was personal property.² Once Jane Hughes died, interest in her personal property, including her financial holdings, transferred to her Estate. Thus, Mattison's principle that fraud does not survive the death of a party in South Carolina is internally inconsistent.

ii. Fraud as an "exception" to the South Carolina Survival Statute

Since Mattison, and contrary to its narrow view of survivability, the South Carolina Supreme Court has consistently *broadly* interpreted the survival statute. See, e.g., Ferguson v. Charleston Lincoln Mercury, Inc., 349 S.C. 558, 564, 564 S.E.2d 94, 97 (2002) ("[T]he statute's language is broad and ostensibly appears to include almost every conceivable cause of action."); Layne v. Int'l Bhd. of Elec. Workers, (AFL-CIO), Local No. 382, 271 S.C. 346, 352, 247 S.E.2d 346, 349 (1978) ("[I]t is the general rule that any cause of action which could have been brought by the deceased in his lifetime survives to his representative under the Survival Act."); Brewer v. Graydon, 233 S.C. 124, 128, 103 S.E.2d 767, 769 (1958) ("the Survival Statute must be liberally construed"). These later South Carolina opinions create a tension with Mattison's holding—that fraud falls outside the scope of the statute—by implying that fraud ostensibly falls within the

² S.C. Code Ann. § 15-1-40 (1976) provides that "[t]he words 'personal property,' as used in this Title, include *money*, goods, chattels, things in action and evidences of debt." (emphasis added).

purview of the survival statute, and would survive but for the *exception* created by Mattison. See Ferguson at 564, 564 S.E.2d at 96 (“The general survivability statute has a wide ambit that includes all causes of action not covered by specific exceptions.”); Brailsford v. Brailsford, 380 S.C. 443, 449, 669 S.E.2d 342, 345 (S.C. App., 2008) (Upholding a dismissal of a fraud-based action upon “[a]pplying this State's longstanding exception to the survivability statute for fraud.”); Layne Workers at 352, 247 S.E.2d at 349 (Identifying fraud as an “exception” to the general rule of survivability).

A review of the interpretation of the survival statute by South Carolina courts, as it pertains to fraud, reveals decades of precedent founded in error. The most recent South Carolina Supreme Court opinion relying upon the Mattison-created exception, Ferguson, strongly implies that fraud falls within the scope of the survival statute, but is excluded as a result of the Mattison opinion. See Ferguson at 564, 564 S.E.2d at 96. The Mattison opinion, however, states in no uncertain terms that fraud “does not come within either of the instances where a cause of action survives” under the statute. Mattison at 256, 15 S.E.2d at 119. Bizarrely, Mattison serves as the foundation upon which the Ferguson opinion rests, yet the language of the Ferguson opinion directly contradicts that of Mattison.

Whether a cause of action for fraud is a common law exception to the survivability statute or whether it falls outside the scope of the statute’s language is an important distinction. The survival statute, currently and when Mattison was decided, expressly provides that causes of action that fall within the scope of the statute survive, “any law or rule to the contrary notwithstanding.” Id.; S.C. Code Ann § 15-5-90 (1976). Over the years, the Mattison court’s interpretation of the survival statute as not extending to actions of fraud has evolved into a common law rule excepting

fraud. The result of that evolution is a “law or rule to the contrary” that is untenable under the plain language of the survival statute.

Despite this irreconcilable disconnect, the South Carolina Supreme Court has yet to revisit the Mattison rationale for the fraud “exception.” Indeed, there has been no discussion by South Carolina courts since 1941 on *why* fraud should be excepted from the survival statute; rather, opinions simply offer that fraud *is* excepted based upon the Mattison opinion. Appellant, therefore, invites this Court to reexamine this question of survivability and to determine viability of the 1941 Mattison analysis in 2018.

B. Public Policy

i. Clear evidence of mindset defeats policy reasons for exception.

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