THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2017-CP-42-02834
Appellate Case No. 2018-000568

RECEIVED
SEP 17 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Phillip Francis Luke Hughes, on behalf of the Estate of Jane K. HughesAppellant,

v.

Bank of America National AssociationRespondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MCGUIREWOODS LLP
Robert A. Muckenfuss
201 N. Tryon Street, Suite 3000
Charlotte, NC 28202
T: (704) 343-2052
rmuckenfuss@mcguirewoods.com
Elizabeth M.Z. Timmermans
434 Fayetteville Street, Suite 2600
Raleigh, NC 27601
T: (919) 755-6576
eztimmermans@mcguirewoods.com

Attorneys for Respondent

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

Plaintiff does not even argue that any of these exceptions apply here. (See *Hughes Br. 20.*) Instead, he asks this Court to create a new exception: that *res judicata* does not apply where a plaintiff voluntarily dismissed claims from the first action in anticipation of defeat.

The closest existing exception to Plaintiff’s argument occurs when the first court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over the issue. But federal courts can and do hear state fraud claims all the time, and indeed, the District Court could have heard the Plaintiff’s fraud-based claims in the 2015 Lawsuit. In fact, Plaintiff decided to bring a TILA claim in the 2015 Lawsuit, providing the

federal court with subject matter jurisdiction over his claims. (R. pp. 99–101; 28 U.S.C. §1367(a) (district courts have supplemental jurisdiction over claims arising out of the same case or controversy as the federal claim)). That Plaintiff later decided on his own to dismiss his claims because he thought he would lose and would not be able to obtain a certified question does not bring him within this exception.

Similarly, Plaintiff's reliance on Section 28, Comment (e) of the Restatement, which addresses exceptions to issue preclusion, is misguided. The example illustrated by Comment (e) is telling—the Restatement explains that a determination in a state court on a patent license agreement may not be held binding in a subsequent federal court action for patent infringement if the grant of exclusive jurisdiction in patent infringement cases to the federal district courts is construed to require otherwise. Again, that is not the case here. Undisputedly, both the District Court and the Court of Common Pleas have equal subject matter jurisdiction to hear Plaintiff's fraud claims. Instead, Plaintiff preemptively dismissed them, expecting defeat.

The cases cited by Plaintiff in support of his position—*Judy v. Judy* and *Pye v. Aycock*—only underscore BANA's position. In both *Judy* and *Pye*, the court ultimately found that the doctrine of *res judicata* barred the plaintiff from re-litigating his claims in the subsequent action. See *Judy v. Judy*, 383 S.C. 1, 7, 677 S.E.2d 213, 217 (Ct. App. 2009), *aff'd*, 393 S.C. 160, 712 S.E.2d 408 (2011) (rejecting the plaintiff's argument that *res judicata* did not apply, where the probate court in the first action did have jurisdiction to decide the cause of action for waste); *Pye v. Aycock*, 325 S.C. 426, 433, 480 S.E.2d 455, 458 (Ct. App. 1997) (affirming the trial court's decision finding that the plaintiff was barred by the doctrine of *res judicata* and rejecting the plaintiff's argument that any of the Restatement's enumerated exceptions applied).

Plaintiff's vague policy justification—that the District Court's decision has an adverse impact on the public interest and therefore does not have binding effect—likewise does not hold water. “[T]he doctrine of *res judicata* serves vital public interests beyond any individual judge's ad hoc determination of the equities in a particular case. There is simply no principle of law or equity which sanctions the rejection... of the salutary principle of *res judicata*.” *Griswold v. Cty. of Hillsborough*, 598 F.3d 1289, 1294 (11th Cir. 2010) (internal quotations omitted).

In any case, applying *res judicata* would not be unjust here. Plaintiff had an opportunity to litigate his fraud claims and simply failed to do so. Moreover, if Plaintiff's fraud allegations were the “primary issue” and “the crux of this case,” as he now alleges, he could have structured this litigation to avoid removal to federal court in the first case. (R. p. 45, lines 5-6.) That is, Plaintiff prioritized his federal TILA claim in the 2015 Lawsuit. Therefore, he faced removal and adjudication in federal court (all the way to the Supreme Court of the United States). Had Plaintiff not pleaded a federal claim, he could have litigated the fraud exception in state court the first time around.

But having strategically set aside certain state claims to pursue federal claims in federal court, Plaintiff cannot now invoke the interest of justice in trying to get a second bite at the claims he abandoned years ago. This litigation is an afterthought, pursued only after it became apparent that the District Court and Fourth Circuit had not gone Plaintiff's way in the first case.

IV. PLAINTIFF'S CLAIMS ARE ALL UNTIMELY

Even if Plaintiff's claims were not excluded by South Carolina's survivability statute and *res judicata*, they would be barred by the applicable statute of limitations. A three-year statute of limitations governs all of Plaintiff's claims here. Yet Plaintiff filed his *first* complaint more than nine years after the charges he challenges began, and the current Complaint two years after that.

Because the statutes of limitation have long expired, Plaintiff's claims can only be timely if the doctrine of equitable tolling saves them. But there are two independent reasons why equitable tolling cannot apply here: first, Plaintiff litigated that issue and lost in the 2015 Federal Lawsuit; and second, regardless, equitable tolling cannot apply on the undisputed facts and pleadings in this case.

A. All of Plaintiff's claims are beyond their limitations period.

The Court of Common Pleas correctly found that Plaintiff's 2017 claims—all arising from a transaction that occurred in 2006—are time-barred by many years. (R. pp. 8–10.)

Each cause of action remaining here has a three-year statute of limitations: (1) fraud (S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(7)); (2) fraudulent concealment (*id.*); (3) breach of contract accompanied by a fraudulent act (§ 15-3-530(1)); and (4) violation of the SCUTPA (§ 39-5-150). Plaintiff has never disputed this.

Under the discovery rule, these statutes of limitation began to run when “the person knew or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known that he had a cause of action.” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-535; *Mitchell v. Holler*, 311 S.C. 406, 408–9, 429 S.E.2d 793, 795 (1993) (articulating the “discovery rule”). “The standard . . . is objective rather than subjective.” *Gibson v. Bank of America, N.A.*, 383 S.C. 399, 405–06, 680 S.E.2d 778, 782 (Ct. App. 2009) (adding that the statute begins running when “the facts and circumstances . . . would have put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some claim against another party might exist.”).

Here, these statutes of limitation began running in 2006. Plaintiff alleges that his parents declined to purchase the LPP when they opened their line of credit from BANA on June 13, 2006. Nonetheless, he alleges, BANA withdrew a monthly charge of \$28.40 from their account “for several years,” beginning “on or about June 2006.” (R. p. 21, ¶ 23; R. pp. 94–95, ¶ 25.) Thus,

reasonable notice of the alleged wrongdoing occurred when the first charge appeared on her monthly statement in June 2006. (R. pp. 94–95, ¶ 25 (alleging that the monthly LPP charges were withdrawn from the Plaintiff’s account beginning “on or about June 2006” as reflected in their monthly bank and/or home equity loan statements sent to their address.))

The Court of Appeals’ 2009 decision in *Gibson* is instructive. 383 S.C. 399, 407–08, 680 S.E.2d 778, 783 (Ct. App. 2009). In *Gibson*, the estate of an elderly woman sued a bank, claiming that it had improperly allowed withdrawals from her bank account. However, at least some monthly statements sent to the decedent reflected the withdrawals. Thus, this Court held that she was, or objectively should have been, aware of the withdrawals. This Court found the lawsuit time barred.

As the *Gibson* Court observed, the purpose of bank statements is to assert the existing balance of an account, saying “in effect: ‘this bank owes you this stated balance, and no more.’” *Id.* at 408. Therefore, even if a person does “not know the precise details behind the discrepancy,” the statement provides notice and an opportunity for the account holder to inquire about any charge listed. “If this is not the legal effect of the bank’s monthly statement to its depositor, it is not apparent what function the monthly statement performs.” *Id.* at 408.

Like in *Gibson*, Hughes’ parents received monthly statements listing the charges they now attempt to challenge. Those statements began in June 2006 and steadily continued, month after month, year after year, all showing a monthly withdrawal of \$28.40. The statute of limitations for all of Plaintiff’s claims expired three years later, in the summer of 2009—more than six years before Plaintiff filed his first complaint. (R. pp. 8–9.)

B. Equitable tolling is foreclosed by issue preclusion.

The parties here exhaustively litigated equitable tolling in the 2015 Lawsuit. Plaintiff lost. Issue preclusion, also known as collateral estoppel, bars his attempt to re-litigate that issue now.

Under the doctrine of issue preclusion, “when an issue has been actually litigated and determined by a valid and final judgment, the determination is conclusive in a subsequent action whether on the same or a different claim.” *Zurcher v. Bilton*, 379 S.C. 132, 135, 666 S.E.2d 224, 226 (2008). “[Issue preclusion] applies to specific issues, regardless of whether the claims in the first and subsequent suits are the same.” *Judy*, 383 S.C. at 7, 677 S.E.2d at 217. Issue preclusion applies when “the issue in the present lawsuit was (1) actually litigated in the prior action; (2) directly determined in the prior action; and (3) necessary to support the prior judgment.” *Carolina Renewal, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 385 S.C. 550, 554, 684 S.E.2d 779, 782 (Ct. App. 2009).

Each element of issue preclusion is satisfied here. First, the issue was “actually litigated” in the 2015 Lawsuit. *Carolina Renewal*, 385 S.C. at 554, 684 S.E.2d at 782. The parties fully briefed the dispositive issues of timeliness and equitable tolling with regard to Plaintiff’s LPP coverage allegations. (R. pp. 134–35, 208–09, 255–56.) In reviewing the parties’ briefing on BANA’s motion to dismiss, the District Court explicitly recognized that “Defendant argues all of Plaintiffs’ claims are time barred and equitable tolling is inapplicable....Plaintiffs maintain their claims have been equitably tolled.” (R. p. 125; R. p. 126 (adding that “Plaintiffs rely on the doctrine of equitable tolling to argue their claims are timely”)). On appeal, both parties again briefed equitable tolling and its applicability. See *In re Estate of Hughes v. Bank of Am. Nat’l Ass’n*, 2017 WL 1739795, at *13–33 (4th Cir. 2017); *In re Estate of Hughes v. Bank of Am. Nat’l Ass’n*, 2017 WL 1206484, at *13–35 (4th Cir. 2017).

Second, the federal courts “directly determined” the issue “in the prior action.” *Carolina*

Renewal, 385 S.C. at 554, 684 S.E.2d at 782. The District Court directly determined that the facts as alleged could not establish equitable tolling. (R. pp. 126–27; R. p. 46, lines 18–20 (Plaintiff’s counsel conceding that the Federal Court “looked into” equitable tolling.)) The District Court reasoned that Plaintiff’s allegations regarding Ms. Hughes’ poor health, though unfortunate, were insufficient to show that the parties had exercised due diligence, noting that the LPP charges appeared on the Hughes’ monthly checking statements sent to the Hughes’ address for nine years. (*Id.*)

On appeal, the Fourth Circuit again ruled that equitable tolling could not apply here. After setting out the standard for equitable tolling, the Fourth Circuit opined that “with these standards in mind, we have reviewed the briefs and the record before us and conclude that the district court did not err in granting the motion to dismiss.” *Hughes*, 697 F. App’x 191, 192-93 (4th Cir. 2017).

Third, the prior finding of no equitable tolling was “necessary to support the prior judgment.” *Carolina Renewal*, 385 S.C. at 554, 684 S.E.2d at 782. In fact, the absence of equitable tolling is the express reason for the dismissal of Plaintiff’s 2015 Lawsuit. (R. pp. 125–27 (granting BANA’s motion to dismiss on the basis that the plaintiffs’ claims were barred by the statute of limitations and were not entitled to equitable tolling, specifically observing that Plaintiff “rel[ied] on the doctrine of equitable tolling to argue [his] claims are timely” and rejecting that argument)).

Plaintiff cannot evade issue preclusion by arguing that the federal law of equitable tolling differs from that in South Carolina. (Hughes Br. 24–25.) Plaintiff theorizes that South Carolina offers a more “lenient” equitable tolling doctrine than the federal courts. (*Id.*) That is not correct. There is no meaningful difference between South Carolina and federal law on this issue, and indeed, the District Court of South Carolina cited to and considered both federal and state law in

ruling on equitable tolling. (R. p. 126.)

Both the federal courts and South Carolina recognize that equitable tolling is a matter of judicial discretion and that it is rarely proper. Both place the burden on the plaintiff. *Hooper v. Ebenezer Sr. Servs. & Rehab. Ctr.*, 386 S.C. 108, 115, 687 S.E.2d 29, 32 (2009) (holding that the plaintiff “bears the burden of establishing sufficient facts to justify its use”); *CVLR Performance Horses, Inc. v. Wynne*, 792 F.3d 469, 476 (4th Cir. 2015) (noting that the plaintiff must carry “a considerable burden to demonstrate that it applies”).

Both federal and South Carolina courts also require “a compelling basis for awarding such relief,” such that the doctrine is used “sparingly” to avoid “a gross wrong.” *Hooper*, 386 S.C. at 115, 687 S.E.2d at 32–33; *Kuusk v. Holder*, 732 F.3d 302, 306 (4th Cir. 2013) (doctrine applies “only sparingly”); *Harris v. Hutchinson*, 209 F.3d 325, 330 (4th Cir. 2000) (requiring “gross injustice”).

These cases show that equitable tolling is no different in federal court than in South Carolina. In fact, South Carolina cases have explicitly embraced the federal standard. *See, e.g., Pelzer v. State*, 662 S.E.2d 618, 621 (S.C. Ct. App. 2008) (quoting and agreeing with the Fourth Circuit’s equitable tolling description in *Harris*, 209 F.3d at 330, and calling it “particularly illuminating”). Both federal and state law recognize that the equitable tolling doctrine is sparingly applied, and only in extraordinary circumstances that overcome diligence by the plaintiff. *Id.*

Likewise, the fact that Plaintiff’s causes of action in this suit are different from the 2015 Lawsuit does not change the outcome. “[Issue preclusion] applies to specific issues, regardless of whether the claims in the first and subsequent suits are the same.” *Judy*, 383 S.C. at 7, 677 S.E.2d at 217. And, the statute of limitations period is the same for Plaintiff’s existing claims as

his prior breach of contract claim in the 2015 Lawsuit: three years. As such, because the District Court determined that Plaintiff's claims were time-barred in 2015, his 2017 claims are likewise barred and should be dismissed.²

C. Even apart from issue preclusion, Plaintiff cannot meet the requirements of equitable tolling.

Even independently from the bar of issue preclusion, the court below correctly ruled that equitable tolling cannot apply here. (R. p. 9 (“The Court agrees with the findings of the District Court and the Court of Appeals in the 2015 Federal Action that equitable tolling does not apply in this case.”)).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has maintained that “equitable tolling is a doctrine that should be used sparingly and only when the interests of justice compel its use.” *Hooper*, 386 S.C. at 117, 687 S.E.2d at 32. “It has been observed that equitable tolling typically applies in cases where a litigant was prevented from filing suit because of an extraordinary event beyond his or her control.” *Id.* at 116. *See also Am. Legion Post 15 v. Horry Cty.*, 381 S.C. 576, 582, 674 S.E.2d 181, 184 (Ct. App. 2009) (emphasizing the need for due diligence before allowing for equitable tolling).

Plaintiff cannot satisfy the “sparingly” used equitable tolling doctrine. In particular, Plaintiff alleges that the charge for the insurance appeared on monthly checking account statements from 2006 to 2015. (R. pp. 94–95, ¶ 25.) The monthly charge was called “Ad

² As discussed above, Plaintiff relies on 28 Comment e of the RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF JUDGMENTS § 28 (1982) to argue that his fraud claims are not barred by *res judicata*. But Comment e—which applies to circumstances in which the first court lacks subject matter jurisdiction to decide a particular issue—does not help him here either. *See id.* There is no dispute that the District Court had subject matter jurisdiction to hear all of Hughes’ claims and make a determination on the applicable statutes of limitations and equitable tolling issues, as it did.

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